1995

Lynn F. Atherley v. Albertson's, Inc. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This Court has jurisdiction over this action by virtue of the provisions of Utah Code Ann. S. 78-2a-3(2)(k) (1953 as amended).

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The issue presented for review is whether the trial court properly held that Mrs. Atherley had presented no evidence from which a jury could reasonably find that Albertson's had selected a method of displaying strawberries that created a potentially dangerous condition, that Mrs. Atherley had presented no evidence from which a jury could reasonably find that it was foreseeable to Albertson's that the acts of third parties relating to the strawberry display and marketing method could create a hazard, and that, on the basis of those findings, whether the trial court properly granted Albertson's Motion for Summary Judgment by dismissing Mrs. Atherley's negligence claim against Albertson's. On appeal from the granting of summary judgment, the appellate court will not defer to the trial court's determination of whether there are material facts in dispute, will view the facts in a light most favorable to the party against which summary judgment was entered and review the legal conclusions of the trial court for correctness, affording it no deference. Canfield v. Albertsons, Inc., (Utah App. 1992), Cert. denied 853 P.2d 897 (Utah 1993). Plaintiff's Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment (R at 71 through 90.) and the argument

of plaintiff's counsel as contained in the transcript of the hearing on defendant's motion show that this issue was preserved in the trial court. (R at 131 through 157.)

DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS OF LAW

The only determinative provision of law in this appeal is Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, a copy of which is set forth verbatim in the addendum to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This is a tort action for negligence arising out of injuries received by Mrs. Atherley while a customer in one of Albertson's stores. In addition to the cause of action for negligence, Mrs. Atherley's Complaint stated causes of action for the torts of conversion, trespass, and breach of privacy. Mrs. Atherley's conversion, trespass, and breach of privacy claims were dismissed pursuant to the stipulation of the parties.

B. Course of Proceedings

Subsequent to plaintiff's Complaint and defendant's Answer being filed, the parties undertook a period of discovery. Defendant then filed its Motion for Summary Judgment. Plaintiff filed a Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment. A hearing was held before the trial court on defendant's motion on April 7, 1995.

C. Disposition in the Trial Court

The trial court ruled from the bench granting defendant's motion for summary judgment to dismiss plaintiff's negligence claim only. The trial court's order dismissing plaintiff's negligence claim was entered on July 13, 1995. (R at 115 through 118.) Plaintiff/appellant's Notice of Appeal was filed on August 9, 1995. (R at 125 through 126.)

D. Statement of Relevant Facts

On April 8, 1992, Mrs. Atherley was a customer in Albertson's Kearns, Utah store. As she was walking through the store in the area adjacent to Albertson's produce department, Mrs. Atherley accidentally stepped on a strawberry that was on the floor causing her to fall to the floor. Mrs. Atherley was injured in the fall. (R at 1 through 9 and 91 through 92.)

Mrs. Atherley provided evidence in the form of affidavit testimony that strawberry on which she stepped and slipped was approximately six (6) feet away from the table holding Albertson's strawberry display. (R at 92.)

Mrs. Atherley provided evidence in the form of affidavit testimony that there were no barriers around the strawberry display table to prevent strawberries from rolling on to the floor, that there were no floor mats around the strawberry display, and that the strawberries were displayed in open containers. (R at 92 through 93.) The fact that strawberries were displayed in open containers as a marketing approach is uncontested as is the fact that Albertson's had available to it, and actually employed, alternative methods of displaying strawberries in closed containers

greatly reducing the possibility of spillage and the creation of a hazard to shoppers. (R at 90.) Mrs. Atherley also produced a photograph for illustrative purposes showing displays of strawberries in open containers and without barriers or floor mats. (R at 95.)

Albertson's witness, Glenn Wilkes, stated in his affidavit that "the edge of the dry tables on which strawberries and similar produce are displayed have barriers that surround the edges of the tables which are three of (sic) four inches high and they effectively keep the produce on the table." (R at 65.) (emphasis added) This testimony was disputed by Mrs. Atherley's testimony and representative photograph and inconsistent with the photograph provided by Mr. Wilkes and attached to his affidavit. (R at 68.)

The trial court had evidence before it from which the jury could conclude that Albertson's could foresee that its method of displaying strawberries in open containers would commonly result in strawberries ending up on the floor, thereby creating a hazard to Albertson's customers. In his affidavit, Mr. Wilkes testified that "it is not uncommon to see a piece of produce (i.e., grape, strawberry, lettuce leaf, etc.) on the floor...." (R at 66.) The trial court also had evidence that Albertson's had knowledge of a pattern of customer behavior relating to openly-displayed produce that often created the kind of hazard that caused Mrs. Atherley's injuries. (R at 66.)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. Utah law recognizes two separate and distinct legal theories under which a store owner may be liable for a patron's slip and fall. The trial court failed to view the two theories of liability separately. Instead, the trial court merged the two theories, effectively depriving Mrs. Atherley of her opportunity to present her case against Albertson's under the second theory of liability. By requiring Mrs. Atherley to meet the notice requirement of the first theory, the trial court improperly found cause to dismiss Mrs. Atherley's negligence claim pursuant to Albertson's motion for summary judgment.

II. In challenging Albertson's motion for summary judgment, Mrs. Atherley presented the trial court with evidence supporting her negligence claim under the second theory of liability. She established that Albertson's chose a method of operation whereby strawberries were openly displayed in uncovered cartons. She presented evidence that Albertson's could foresee that the acts of third party customers in relation to the openly-displayed strawberries could result in strawberries falling or being dropped to the floor. Finally, she presented evidence to indicate that Albertson's did not act reasonably to protect its customers from the dangerous condition created by its method of selling strawberries because it failed to put barriers around the strawberry display to stop strawberries from rolling to the floor and failed to place non-skid floor mats around the strawberry display. Despite having these facts and the issues raised by them

at hand, the trial court, contrary to Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and the long history of case precedent relating to summary judgment, granted Albertson's motion for summary judgment and dismissed Mrs. Atherley's negligence claim.

III. The trial court improperly ruled as a matter of law that Albertson's method of display was not dangerous. In making its ruling, the trial court improperly took over the role of factfinder from the jury. The trial court erred in making this determination as a matter of law. The question of whether Albertson's chosen method of displaying strawberries was dangerous is fact sensitive and may not be decided as a matter of law.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT MISINTERPRETED UTAH LAW CONCERNING STORE OWNER LIABILITY TO PATRONS AND IMPROPERLY DISMISSED PLAINTIFF'S NEGLIGENCE CLAIM ON DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

I. The Trial Court Failed To Properly Apply the Tests Defined By the Utah Court of Appeals In Canfield v. Albertson's, Inc.

Much of the argument contained in this brief was made to the trial court in Mrs. Atherley's behalf in the context of her opposition to Albertson's Motion for Summary Judgment. These arguments failed below because the trial court failed to correctly interpret the law as it has developed relating to premises liability. Utah law recognizes two separate and distinct theories, either of which may be applied to determine if a store owner is liable for its patrons' slip and fall injuries. The two applicable

theories are defined in Canfield v. Albertson's, Inc., 841 P.2d 1224 (Utah App. 1992), Cert. denied 853 P.2d 897 (Utah 1993).

In general, there are two legal theories under which a store owner may be found negligent and held liable for a patron's injuries in a "slip and fall" case in Utah. The first theory involves situations where there is a temporary or transient hazard within the store that was not created by the store owner, its agents, or employees. Under this theory, in order to find a store owner negligent, it must be shown that the store owner "knew or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known of any hazardous condition and had reasonable opportunity to remedy the same." [Citations omitted.]

The second theory, which governs the case before us, involves situations where the store owner, its agents, or employees create or are responsible for the dangerous condition. Under this theory, a plaintiff does not need to establish notice since a store owner is deemed to have notice of the dangerous condition it creates.

Canfield, page 1226.

It should not have been necessary for Mrs. Atherley to persuade the trial court that Albertson's had actual or constructive knowledge that the particular strawberry on which she fell had fallen or been dropped to the floor. The trial court insisted, however, that Mrs. Atherley meet this burden and interpreted Canfield to require the showing of actual or constructive notice as part of the requirement of satisfying the second theory of liability. The trial court commented from the bench that it

[had a hard time seeing why it should hold Albertson's] liable or at least allow it to go to the jury when there is nothing to give me reason to believe that [Albertson's] had **notice** of [the strawberry] and that [Albertson's] had **notice** that [the strawberry] was in a dangerous condition and that it was foreseeable that this person would fall on **that** strawberry or any person would fall on **that** strawberry.

(R at 146 through 147.) (emphasis added).

Albertson's placed substantial emphasis on the fact that neither it nor Mrs. Atherley knew precisely how the strawberry had found its way to the floor. The trial court apparently found this point significant. Mrs. Atherley could not, at the summary judgment phase of her case, and cannot now show that Albertson's had actual or constructive knowledge of the presence of **that** strawberry on the floor where she fell. The law as defined in Canfield relieves Mrs. Atherley of that harsh and inequitable burden of proof.

In this case, Ms. Canfield alleges that she slipped on a lettuce leaf on the floor near a display of farmer's pack lettuce. Viewing the facts in the light most favorable to Ms. Canfield, Albertson's chose a method of displaying and offering lettuce for sale where it was expected that third parties would remove and discard the outer leaves from heads of lettuce they intended to purchase. It was reasonably foreseeable that under this method of operation some leaves would fall or be dropped on the floor by customers thereby creating a dangerous condition. Because Albertson's chose this method of operation, the question of whether Albertson's had notice, either actual or constructive, is not relevant. The relevant question is whether Albertson's took reasonable precautions to protect customers against the dangerous condition it created.

Canfield, page 1227. (Emphasis added.)

The facts in Canfield are strikingly similar to those in Mrs. Atherley's case. In Canfield, Albertson's displayed lettuce in what is commonly called a "farmer's pack" at the end of one of the produce display tables. The individual heads of lettuce were not wrapped and were placed in boxes allowing customers to sort through the heads of lettuce in making their selection. These factors differentiated the "farmer's pack" from lettuce sold individually wrapped in cellophane. Customer's regularly discarded the outer

leaves of the "farmer's pack" lettuce. Albertson's had placed empty boxes around the lettuce display to provide a place where customers could throw the discarded leaves. At least one of the discarded leaves apparently missed the empty box and ended up on the floor where Ms. Canfield stepped on it, slipped, and fell.

In Mrs. Atherley's case, Albertson's displayed strawberries in uncovered boxes and containers which customers could sort through and "pick as many strawberries as they want." (R at 90.) Albertson's, at the same time, also displayed strawberries for sale "in quart containers (i.e., closed plastic containers); and ... in three packs (i.e., a closed container that holds three pints of strawberries);..." (R at 90.) It can be said that the strawberries sold in uncovered boxes were marketed in a "farmer's pack."

Allowing customers to sort through "farmer's pack" strawberries and lettuce may be good marketing and may allow Albertson's to achieve maximum sales by presenting an attractive display to customers but, by allowing customers to pick through the strawberries and package the strawberries themselves, Albertson's created a risk that strawberries would either fall to the floor or be dropped there by customers. It was undisputed below that Albertson's chose this method of marketing strawberries. (R at 90 and 66.) Albertson's argued, however, that because Mrs. Atherley could not show how that strawberry got to the floor she was not entitled to her day in court. Under Canfield, Mrs. Atherley does

not have to show how the strawberry reached the floor in order to prevail in her negligence claim against Albertson's.

The method of operation, displaying strawberries in open containers, was chosen by Albertson's. (R at 90.) Evidence was before the trial court establishing that Albertson's knew that customers would sort through, bump, or knock strawberries out of the display and even drop them from uncovered containers off of a display that did not have a barrier to prevent them from falling to the floor. (R at 66 and 90.) Canfield established that:

[W]here the store owner chooses a method of operation where it is reasonably foreseeable that the expectable acts of third parties will create a dangerous condition, an injured party need not prove either actual or constructive knowledge of the specific condition. [Citation omitted.] In this type of case, notice is satisfied as a matter of law because the store owner is deemed to be informed of the dangerous condition since it adopted the method of operation.

Canfield, page 1226. The Court went on to state that:

To relieve the plaintiff of the requirement of proving actual or constructive notice in such instances is to effect a more equitable balance in regards to the burdens of proof. [Citation omitted].

Canfield, page 1227.

The evidence presented to the trial court by Mrs. Atherley raised sufficient issues of fact to satisfy the second theory of liability set forth in Canfield. Mrs. Atherley showed that Albertson's chose the method of operation, i.e., selling strawberries in open containers. She presented contested evidence that the tables on which the strawberries were openly displayed had no barriers to prevent strawberries from rolling to the floor and that there were not mats around the table to reduce the risk from

strawberries that had fallen. (R at 92 through 93.) She also established that Albertson's knew that customer actions commonly resulted in strawberries, grapes, and peanuts falling to the floor, thereby satisfying the foreseeability requirement. (R at 66.)

The trial court refused to recognize the separate and distinct nature of the second theory of liability defined in Canfield or to relieve Mrs. Atherley of the harsh burden of proof which is effectively eliminated by the second theory. Instead, the trial court merged the two theories and, because Mrs. Atherley could not show actual or constructive notice as required in the first theory of liability, dismissed her negligence claim against Albertson's. The trial court's inability to separate the two theories is clear in its pronouncement from the bench:

The Court also finds that there is no evidence that the store had any opportunity to remedy the single strawberry that was on the floor had they had -- nor that they had any notice that it was there until the accident occurred. Thus there is no potential for the Court to find that there was adequate foreseeability of the store to be held liable, and the defendant's motion for summary judgment is granted. (R at 156.)

The foreseeability required by the second theory of liability is not the same as the notice requirement of the first theory. The clear and obvious purpose of the second theory of liability defined in Canfield is to relieve plaintiffs of the notice requirements of the first theory, yet the trial court required Mrs. Atherley to prove **notice** in order to satisfy the foreseeability requirement. This Court could not have made the distinction any clearer than it did:

In this type of case, notice is satisfied as a matter of law because the storeowner is deemed to be informed of the dangerous condition since it adopted the method of operation.

Canfield, page 1226. The trial court's improper merging of the two theories of liability renders the entire purpose of this Court's holding in Canfield meaningless.

II. Mrs. Atherley Presented Sufficient Evidence To Overcome Albertson's Motion for Summary Judgment

Because Mrs. Atherley raised issues of fact sufficient to state a cause of action under the second theory of liability set forth in Canfield, it was improper for the trial court to dismiss her negligence claim pursuant to Albertson's motion. The trial court was determined, however, not to let Mrs. Atherley's claim go to a jury. In Canfield, this Court held that:

In deciding whether the trial court correctly determined that there were no genuine issues of material fact, we do not defer to the trial court's determination of whether there are material facts in dispute, but review the facts and inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the losing party. [Citation omitted.] Any doubts or uncertainties concerning issues of fact are resolved in favor of the losing party. [Citation omitted]. Ms. Canfield also challenges the trial court's legal conclusions which we review for correctness, giving no deference to the trial court. [Citation omitted].

Canfield, page 1226. The standard of review expressed by this Court in Canfield has been established through a long line of cases in the Utah appellate courts. It recognizes the harsh nature of summary judgment rulings and the fact that summary judgments deprive the losing party of the opportunity to present her claim to the factfinder. In Mrs. Atherley's case, the factfinder, by Albertson's choice, is a jury.

In order to prevail on a motion for summary judgment, Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires that the moving party "show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." (Addendum, page 1.) Albertson's did not meet that burden in relation to Mrs. Atherley's claim and summary judgment was improper.

The critical material facts have been set forth and addressed in the Statement of Facts and section "I" of the argument, above. Mrs. Atherley presented ample evidence from which a jury could find that Albertson's chose a method of operation that resulted in the creation of a hazard, that it was foreseeable to Albertson's that the acts of customers in conjunction with its method of operation could result in the creation of a hazard, and that Albertson's failed to take adequate precautions (no barriers or floor mats) to protect its customers from the risk of injury. Again, turning to Canfield for guidance:

Given Albertson's decision to use farmer's pack displays, the inquiry therefore becomes whether Albertson's did what was "reasonably necessary to protect the customer from the risk of injury that mode of operation is likely to generate." [Citations omitted.] This inquiry necessarily focuses on the store owner's actions prior to, or contemporary with, the creation of the dangerous condition. Each determination of whether the protective measures taken were reasonable is fact sensitive.... In any event the fact finder must determine whether the store owner's vigilance in protecting against a condition or hazard was commensurate with the risk created by the method of operation [Citation omitted.]

Canfield, page 1227.

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