1995

Lynn F. Atherley v. Albertsons, Inc. : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: Simply alleging that Albertson's open method of displaying strawberries was negligent does not trigger the Canfield theory. The plaintiff in Canfield had evidence that customers deliberately discarded outer lettuce leaves on the floor and that Albertson's knew of this practice; there is no evidence here that customers intentionally or unintentionally discarded unwanted strawberries on the floor when taking strawberries from the open display, much less that Albertson's knew of such a practice. The plaintiff in Canfield produced expert affidavits explaining that the farmer's pack method of display was unreasonable and contravened industry safety

standards. Mrs. Atherley did not produce expert testimony on the issue of dangerousness; instead, she offered her lay opinion, without supporting explanation, that the display was dangerous. Mrs. Atherley is asking this Court to deem Albertson's method of display negligent simply because it is open, which is tantamount to asking that this Court impose absolute liability on storeowners whenever a customer falls on a good that happens to be "openly" displayed. The trial court acted appropriately in applying the traditional theory of liability here because Mrs. Atherley could not produce any evidence of a negligent method of display.

POINT II: Summary judgment is warranted in this case because Mrs. Atherley cannot demonstrate that the open method of display proximately caused her injury. She does not know where the strawberry came from. The mere existence of a supposedly dangerous method of display does not mean that but for the display, she would not have been injured. Since she cannot establish the essential element of proximate cause on pure speculation, the trial court properly determined as a matter of law that she could not sustain a prima facie case of negligence.

POINT III: Having no reason to apply the Canfield theory of liability, the trial court used the traditional theory of liability. It properly determined under this theory that summary judgment was required because Mrs. Atherley has no evidence that Albertson's knew, or through the exercise of reasonable care should have known, that the strawberry was on the floor or that Albertson's had a reasonable opportunity to remedy the alleged hazard.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DECLINED TO
APPLY THE CANFIELD THEORY OF LIABILITY
BECAUSE THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE METHOD
OF DISPLAY WAS DANGEROUS.

In order to trigger the Canfield theory of liability, Mrs. Atherley has the burden of introducing evidence indicating that Albertson's did something more than simply display produce in its store. She carries the burden of demonstrating that the particular method of displaying strawberries in open containers was uniquely dangerous compared to any other open displays of produce in the store, such as apples, kiwis, grapes, berries, plums, tomatoes or mushrooms. She must show that the open

display itself was dangerous in that it encouraged customers to act in such a way that risks were created. She has not met this burden.

A. Mrs.Atherley Cannot Produce Evidence of Unique Display, Foreseeable Pattern of Customer Conduct Due to the Unique Display, or Albertson's Knowledge of the Hazardous Condition Created.

The facts relating to the dangerous condition of the farmer's pack method of displaying lettuce in Canfield do not exist here. First, there are no facts here to support the notion that an open display of strawberries is unique. The farmer's pack display in Canfield differed from the typical grocery store method of selling lettuce in cellophane; in the farmer's pack display, heads of lettuce are displayed in the same boxes they came in from the farm without the damaged or wilted outer leaves removed. Canfield, 841 P.2d at 1225. The plaintiff in Canfield established that this was a dangerous condition by tendering expert affidavits explaining how the farmer's pack method of display deviated display procedures of other stores. (R. 103; Canfield, 841 P.2d at 1227). These expert affidavits elucidated industry practice for displaying lettuce; evidence that

Albertson's deviated from this practice created an issue of fact regarding the dangerous nature of the farmer's pack display.

By contrast, Mrs. Atherley has never suggested, much less proven, that displaying strawberries in open containers is special or unique in any way. She does not show that Albertson's is the only grocery store to use this method, nor does she have evidence that it is a method of display done on certain occasions.

Equally as significant, she does not have affidavits from safety experts in the grocery store industry stating that the open display was inherently dangerous. As demonstrated in Canfield, expert testimony is helpful to establishing evidence of breach of standard of care in an industry. Wycalis v. Guardian Title of Utah, 780 P.2d 821, 826 (Utah App. 1989). Mrs. Atherley's bare lay assertion, without any supporting explanation, expert or otherwise, that the open display method of displaying strawberries is dangerous is insufficient to create a factual issue.

In Dybowski v. Ernest W. Hahn, Inc., 775 P.2d 445 (Utah App. 1989) the Court affirmed summary judgment because the plaintiff

in that slip and fall case failed to raise any material issues of fact beyond the bare allegations of the store owner's negligence. See also Utah Rule of Civil Procedure 56(e) (party may not oppose summary judgment with mere allegations). Mrs. Atherley's only "evidence" of a dangerousness is her own speculation that an open display is somehow dangerous.²

Second, the plaintiff in Canfield had evidence of a foreseeable pattern of customer conduct created by the farmer's pack display. As a result of the display, customers often removed and discarded the outer leaves from the heads of lettuce they wanted to purchase. Id. at 1225. Mrs. Atherley does not have similar evidence. She has not alleged, let alone proven, that an open display of strawberries encourages customers to take the ones they do not want and drop them to the ground. She does

²Mrs. Atherley complains that the trial court improperly ruled as a matter of law that the open method of displaying strawberries was not dangerous, claiming that under Canfield, the issue of dangerous condition is always a factual inquiry. Actually, the trial court ruled that it was not a dangerous display because Mrs. Atherley had no evidence to that effect. Mrs. Atherley is not entitled to go to a jury with the mere allegation of a dangerous condition. In any event, the court in Canfield did not state that the issue of whether a condition is dangerous is a jury question, but that the issue of whether the store takes reasonable precautions to protect its customers from a dangerous condition is a jury question. Id. at 1227.

not claim that the strawberries were stacked so high in the open containers that they rolled off the display and onto the ground by themselves. Neither does she explain how it is likely that a typical customer picking objects from a flat display or from an inclined display with barriers will cause one of those strawberries to fall to the ground.

Third, the plaintiff in Canfield was able to show not only that the farmer's pack display created a dangerous condition that was foreseeable, but also that Albertson's was aware of the problem posed by its unique method of display. For example, in Canfield, Albertson's placed disposal boxes around the farmer's pack display, a measure it did not take with other produce displays. Id. at 1225. Mrs. Atherley contends that she has evidence of Albertson's awareness in the form of Albertson's employee Glenn Wilkes' affidavit. Nonetheless, a review of Mr. Wilkes' affidavit reveals that he only states that objects like strawberries or grapes sometimes end up on the floor in various parts of the store. Mr. Wilkes then goes on to explain that this can occur for many different reasons (e.g., because customers inadvertently drop them from carts or hand baskets, or give them

to their children, who then discard them, etc.). Mr. Wilkes never states that the strawberries end up on the floor because of the open display method.

The only similarity between the circumstances in Canfield and the facts of this case is that both plaintiffs asserted that Albertson's used a dangerous method of display. Significantly, the plaintiff in Canfield produced evidence to support her assertion -- the display was unique, it was foreseeable that certain risks, such as customers discarding unwanted leaves on the floor, would arise from it; and Albertson's knew about the risks and tried to remedy it by placing boxes around the display to catch discarded leaves of lettuce. There are no such facts in this case. Consequently, because Mrs. Atherley has introduced no evidence whatsoever in support of her allegations that Albertson's employed a dangerous method of display, the Canfield analysis does not apply to this case.

B. Applying the Canfield Theory of Liability Here Would Be Tantamount to Imposing Absolute Liability on Store Owners and Making Them Insurers of Their Customers Safety.

Store owners are not insurers of their customers' safety. Martin v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 565 P.2d 1139 (Utah 1977). The

Canfield case does not conflict with this principle, for the court required that before a store owner be held liable for a method of display, evidence of negligence must exist.

In this case, where there is no evidence of a dangerous method of display, applying the Canfield theory of liability would extend store owner liability, and the Canfield holding, beyond its proper bounds. If this Court were to agree with Mrs. Atherley that an open display of strawberries is automatically a dangerous one, then all open produce displays in grocery stores become dangerous. Even broader than that, all open displays of all types of goods in which the customer must pick the particular good he wants from a collection of several, become dangerous. Canfield was not meant to impose absolute liability on store owners for all injuries caused by objects that might have come from a display.

The Canfield theory should only be applied to situations where it is warranted. It is not warranted in cases like this, where the plaintiff cannot muster evidence of a dangerous and known store-created condition that foreseeably creates risks. The trial court properly recognized that Mrs. Atherley did not

produce the evidence necessary to trigger the Canfield theory of liability. It correctly applied the traditional theory of liability and granted summary judgment for Albertson's.

POINT II

EVEN IF THE CANFIELD THEORY SHOULD APPLY,
MRS. ATHERLEY HAS NO EVIDENCE OF PROXIMATE CAUSE.

To avoid summary judgment, Mrs. Atherley must produce competent evidence to support each element of her negligence claim. Harline v. Barker, 854 P.2d 595 (Utah App. 1993). Even if Mrs. Atherley had sufficient evidence to trigger the Canfield theory of analysis, summary judgment is still justified because she cannot show that the allegedly negligent method of display was the proximate cause of her injuries.

Although Mrs. Atherley has been adamant in alleging that Albertson's employed a negligent method of displaying strawberries, she has never alleged that the strawberry she slipped on came from this supposedly negligent display. She conceded in her deposition that she does not know where the strawberry that she slipped on came from. It could have ended up on the aisle, several feet from the strawberry display, in various ways. It might have dropped from a shopping cart. It

could have dropped from a hand basket. It could have dropped from a customer's hand or a child's mouth. It could have fallen out of a closed container, which Mrs. Atherley does not contend was a negligent mode of display, by jarring the plastic lid open. It could have fallen from a closed container that had a latent hole in it. There is simply no evidence that the strawberry came directly from the open display of strawberries. It is pure speculation, just as the above potential explanations for how the strawberry got there are speculation.

When the proximate cause of an injury is left to speculation, the claim fails as a matter of law. Staheli v. Farmers' Cooperative of Southern Utah, 655 P.2d 680 (Utah 1982). In Mitchell v. Pearson Enterprises, 697 P.2d 240 (Utah 1985), the court affirmed summary judgment for a hotel because the plaintiff could not produce direct evidence linking the hotel's inadequate security measures to the victim's murder in his hotel room. The Court observed that the murderer may have gained entrance to the victim's room by using a passkey he had taken from hotel personnel, which might be attributable to inadequate security. The Court surmised it was also possible the murderer gained entrance

because the victim voluntarily let him in the room, which would not be attributable to any negligence on hotel's part. The court concluded that "since any attempt to relate Mitchell's death to the alleged negligence of the hotel in providing adequate security would be completely speculative, summary judgment was proper" Mitchell, 697 P.2d at 246. See also Clark v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, 893 P.2d 598 (Utah App. 1993) (summary judgment affirmed for lack of evidence on causation where no one could determine what caused plaintiff's injury without guessing).

It is clear in this case that Mrs. Atherley claims she fell because she slipped on a strawberry. What is entirely unclear is what caused the strawberry to be on the floor. Mrs. Atherley herself admits that she has no evidence to answer this question. One can only guess that the strawberry came from a supposedly negligent condition created by Albertson's, or it may have come from a source beyond Albertson's ability to control. The mere existence of an allegedly negligent display does not mean the display caused her injury. As in Mitchell and Clark, summary judgment is warranted because there is no evidence that the strawberry came from the allegedly negligent display.

POINT III

USING THE TRADITIONAL THEORY OF LIABILITY, THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE PLAINTIFF LACKED EVIDENCE OF KNOWLEDGE AND OPPORTUNITY TO CURE.

Mrs. Atherley has never disputed, either before the trial court or on appeal, that if the traditional theory of liability governs this case, summary judgment for Albertson's is justified. Albertson's reiterates that under the traditional theory of liability, Mrs. Atherley has not shown that Albertson's owed her a duty as a matter of law.

Mrs. Atherley has no evidence that Albertson's knew or should have known the strawberry was on the floor before she fell; she herself does not know how the strawberry got on the floor. She also has no evidence that Albertson's had a reasonable opportunity to remove the strawberry because she does not know how long the strawberry had been on the floor before she fell. (R. 49).

In Long v. Smith Food King Store, 531 P.2d 360 (Utah 1973), the court affirmed summary judgment in favor of the store where the plaintiff slipped on a piece of pumpkin pie. The court explained its affirmance by noting that

in order to impose liability resulting from some foreign substance or defective condition, it must have existed for such time and manner that in due care the defendant either knew or should have known and remedied it.

Long, 531 P.2d at 361.

In Allen v. Federated Dairy Farms, Inc., 538 P.2d 175 (Utah 1975), the court affirmed summary judgment for the defendant arising from a patron's slip on cottage cheese. The court set forth the requirements for maintaining a slip-and-fall action due to an unsafe condition of a temporary nature:

[F]ault cannot be imputed to the defendant so that liability results therefore unless two conditions are met: (a) that he had knowledge of the condition, that is either actual knowledge or constructive knowledge because the condition had existed long enough that he should have discovered it; and (b) that after such knowledge, sufficient time elapsed that in the exercise of reasonable care, he should have remedied it.

Allen, 538 P.2d at 176.

Summary judgment was similarly correct in this case because Mrs. Atherley had no evidence that Albertson's knew of the strawberry on the floor or that it had a reasonable time to remove the strawberry. The trial court used the proper theory of liability and, as a result, properly granted summary judgment for lack of evidence.

CONCLUSION

Mrs. Atherley has presented no compelling reason for this Court to reverse Judge Young's summary judgment in Albertson's favor. Canfield was not meant to apply simply because a plaintiff alleges a dangerous method of display. It is limited to instances where there is competent evidence of a dangerous method that creates hazardous conditions of which the store is aware. Mrs. Atherley's attempt to trigger the Canfield theory of liability solely with the conclusory statement that the open display of strawberries was dangerous because it was open is unavailing.

Even if this Court applied the Canfield theory, Mrs. Atherley has no evidence, just speculation, that the allegedly negligent method of display was the proximate cause of her injuries.

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